MICHAEL HAYSON  v. CHUGACH MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC.

[image: image1.png]


ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200713019
AWCB Decision No. 08-0084
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on May 9, 2008


On March 20, 2008, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employee’s claim for benefits in Anchorage, Alaska. Attorney Chancy Croft represented the employee.  Attorney Nora G. Barlow represented the employer and insurer (employer).  At the conclusion of the hearing the record was held open until April 2, 2008, for post hearing briefing by the parties on the proper interpretation of applicable statutes and case law.  We closed the record when we next met on April 3, 2008.  We reopened the record when we met on April 15, 2008, to admit additional evidence and comment submitted by the parties on April 10, 2008.  We then closed the record on April 15, 2008.

ISSUE
Is the employee entitled to benefits under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act) 
(AS 23.30.001 et. seq.) for his foot/leg injury?
CASE HISTORY AND SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

I. HISTORY OF THE CASE

On April 3, 2006, the employee was dispatched from the Plumbers, and Pipefitters, Local 375 (Union) in Fairbanks, Alaska to a job with Arctic Slope Regional Corporation (ASRC) at the Valdez Terminal (Terminal) doing maintenance work.
  ASRC had a contract with Alyeska Pipeline Service Company (Alyeska) for work at the Terminal.  The employee was flown to Valdez by ASRC.  He was instructed to stay at the Valdez Airport Mancamp (Mancamp) where ASRC provided him with room and board.
  
The Mancamp is located across the street from the Valdez Airport and is some miles from the Terminal.  The employee’s room and board at the Mancamp was provided by ASRC pursuant to the Trans Alaska Pipeline Maintenance and Construction Agreement, also known as the Maintenance Labor Agreement (MLA). 
Section 1. Employees assigned to new or existing operational pump stations or camp jobs will be furnished room and board at no cost to them, . . . 
***

Section 2. Employees shall be considered on camp status for all locations, except for residents who live within a thirty (30) mile radius of the following areas: The terminal at Valdez, . . . 

Additionally, the MLA provides: 
Section 3.  In Valdez, if the Contractor allows an employee(s) the option of not using Contractor-provided facilities for room and board, other than local hire, he shall be provided fifty-five dollars ($55.00) per day in lieu of room and board. 
  
According to the employee’s testimony, he was not given the option by ASRC to stay anywhere other than the Mancamp.  The employee testified ASRC did not offer him a per diem option he could use to pay for alternative housing.
  Employees for other employers also resided at the Mancamp, which could house up to approximately 300 workers.
  Transportation to and from the employer’s worksite at the Terminal was provided to employees staying at the Mancamp.
  The Mancamp provided lunches for workers to take to their worksite, a recreation area, a workout facility and laundry facilities.
In February 2007, the employer assumed the Alyeska contract from ASRC and on February 1, 2007, the employee began working for the employer.
  The employee testified he typically worked between 10 and 16 hours a day seven days a week.
  He worked ten to twelve weeks on with two weeks off.
 

The employee testified that at some time after he began working for the employer, the employee learned from other employees that the employer was offering some employees $55.00 per day per diem as an alternative to the employer providing room and board at the Mancamp.  Some electricians working for the employer accepted the per diem option and lived in rented or owned trailers.
  One pipefitter who owned a residence in Valdez also accepted the per diem option.
  The other workers for the employer remained at the Mancamp.  The employee testified that he was never provided with any notice from the employer that it was offering him the per diem option or that the option had been provided to other employees.

At some point prior to his injury, the employee testified he considered seeking the per diem option but decided against it.  The employee provided multiple reasons for this decision including the cost of renting housing and buying food, that he preferred not to share housing, the extra services and convenience of the Mancamp, and the employer’s provision of transportation to and from work.
 
When not working, the employee was “on-call” to go to work for the employer at all times as needed by the employer.  The employer required the employee and other workers to provide their residence telephone and cellular telephone numbers so it could contact them if they were needed.

On July 22, 2007, at approximately 3:30 am, the employee injured his left foot while exiting a toilet stall at the Mancamp.
  The toilet stalls were on a riser approximately 12 inches high and the employee injured his foot when he stepped off the riser onto a wet floor.
  The employee was off duty and the injury did not occur during his typical working hours.
 

Following his injury, the employee returned to his room at the Mancamp.  Approximately 5:30 am that same day, the employee telephoned for a taxi, which transported him to Providence Valdez Hospital.
   Christopher L. Kottra, M.D., interpreted x-rays of the employer’s lower left leg as indicating a minimally displaced fracture along the medial aspect of the calcaneus or heel.
  The employee was given discharge instructions to avoid any weight bearing on his left leg by using crutches, take pain medication as needed, use a splint pending orthopedic evaluation and to followup with an orthopedist in Anchorage within the next few days.

The same day as the employee’s injury, July 22, 2007, a Personnel Incident Investigation Report was conducted by Investigating Supervisor Ryan Blood for the employer.  Mr. Blood’s report indicates the employee was injured as the result of a misstep off a large step in the restroom and that unsafe slippery conditions existed.

The employee returned home to Anchorage and on July 26, 2007, saw Louis E. Mayer, M.D.  The employee’s x-rays indicated a calcaneal fracture and Dr. Mayer ordered a Computerized Axial Tomography (CT) of the employee’s left foot.
  The CT indicated the employee’s fracture was comminuted and intraarticular.  Daniel J. Steward, M.D., advised the employee he should not put any weight on his left leg and referred the employee to Anchorage Fracture and Orthopedic Clinic.
 

On July 30, 2007, the employer filed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (ROI) indicating the employee suffered a broken heel when he slipped and fell stepping down from a bathroom stall.
  The employee saw Stephen Tower, M.D., on July 31, 2007, who diagnosed joint depression, os calcis fracture and recommended surgical treatment.
  Dr. Tower performed open reduction surgery with internal fixation of left os calcis fracture,
 and the employee was discharged from Providence Alaska Medical Center on August 2, 2007, with his left leg in a cast and instructions to not place any weight on his left leg.

On August 14, 2007, Dr. Tower removed the employee’s cast and noted that the surgical wound appeared to be “well healed by primary intent.”  Dr. Tower fitted the employee with a posterior plantar fasciitis-type splint to wear at night and when he moves around.  Dr. Tower instructed the employee to continue avoiding placing any weight on his left leg.  Dr. Tower did not expect the employee to be able to do heavy physical labor until February or March 2008.

On August 20, 2007, the employer filed a Controversion Notice denying all benefits related to the July 22, 2007 injury asserting “Employee was injured not on the employer’s premises, therefore the injury did not occur within the course and scope of employment.”
  The employee was evaluated by Declan R. Nolan, M.D., on September 14, 2007, who noted the employee’s healing appeared to be progressing well.  Most of the employee’s subtalar joint looked intact and the hardware was maintaining itself in good position.  Dr. Nolan advised the employee he was to continue to use crutches for the next two weeks but could bear up to fifty pounds of weight on his left leg, as tolerated.

Dr. Tower took x-rays of the employee’s left ankle on October 16, 2007, and noted anatomic osteosynthesis of the os calcis, the os calcis appeared to be healed with fixation of the hardware with no evidence of breaking or migration.  Dr. Tower opined the employee was doing well post surgery and predicted a release to work without restrictions by mid-January 2008.  He released the employee to return to work without restrictions effective January 21, 2008.  Dr. Tower advised the employee to return in six months for a permanent partial impairment (PPI) rating.
  
On November 27, 2007, the employee filed a Workers’ Compensation Claim (WCC) for temporary total disability (TTD) from July 22, 2007 continuing, PPI when rated, medical benefits, establishment of a compensation rate,
 and attorney’s fees and costs.  On December 21, 2007, the employer filed a second Controversion Notice denying all benefits asserting, “The employee was not injured within the course and scope of employment as he chose the accommodations where he would stay and the Valdez man-camp where he fell is not owned by the employer.  Thus, the remote site doctrine does not apply.”
  Also on December 21, 2007, the employer filed an Answer to the employee’s WCC asserting affirmative defenses that the employee’s injury did not occur within the course and scope of his employment and the remote site doctrine does not apply.

Dr. Tower released the employee to return to full duty employment with no restrictions on January 21, 2008.
  A prehearing conference was held on February 14, 2008, at which this matter was scheduled for a hearing on March 20, 2008.  The prehearing conference summary lists the benefits the employee is claiming for but stated the issue for hearing is the compensability of the claim based on whether the injury occurred within the course and scope of employment.
  As of the March 20, 2008 hearing, the employee had not returned to work.  He testified he was actively seeking work and was collecting unemployment benefits since he was released to work.
  At the March 20, 2008 hearing, the employee asked the Board to, in addition to a ruling on compensability, make specific findings regarding the benefits he is requesting.  The employer argued that such additional findings were not necessary at this time as the only issue in dispute is compensability and, once resolved, it did not anticipate any additional issues.  The Board proceeded to hear the issue of compensability pursuant to the February 14, 2008 Prehearing Conference Summary.

II. TESTIMONY AT HEARING

A. Rodney Brown

At the March 20, 2008 hearing, Rodney Brown testified telephonically from Fairbanks, Alaska, at the request of the employee.  Mr. Brown is a Business Agent for Plumbers’ Local 375.  He testified that the employer entered a “bridging agreement” during 2007, whereby it assumed the duties of ASRC and was bound by the terms of the MPA.
  He testified that the employee worked 1,770 hours in 2006 as a union pipefitter for ASRC.
  He explained the MPA provides for a total pension contribution by the employer of $6.26 per hour.
  On cross-examination by the employer, Mr. Brown testified that 1,770 hours in a year is a typical year hour total for a full time worker.
  He was uncertain if the purpose of the MPA per diem option was to allow workers to live where they wanted.
  On redirect examination Mr. Brown testified the cost of a hotel room in Valdez is around $75-$80 per night.
  He testified pipefitters at the Terminal worked a minimum of 10 hours per day and as much as 12-14 hours a day at times.
  He testified that if a worker did not live at the Mancamp the worker would have to provide his own transportation to and from the Terminal for work.
  Mr. Brown was uncertain if there was a provision in the MPA requiring that there be a designated site for collection of workers for transportation to the Terminal.
  However, Mr. Brown did testify that the MPA requires the employer to furnish transportation to and from Valdez for hiring, termination and for weeks off.

B. Michael Hayson

At the March 20, 2008 hearing, the employee testified on his own behalf.  He testified that when he was first hired by ASRC he flew from Anchorage to the Valdez Airport and walked across the street to check in at the Mancamp.  He testified he was assigned a room and was not given the option to choose a different room.  He explained that the employer provided bus transportation from the Mancamp to the worksite at the Terminal.  He testified that the buses were inspected by employer security at the Mancamp.  The employee testified he worked 10 hours plus a day, typically seven days a week.  He worked 10-12 weeks on with two weeks off.  He testified the employer flew him to Anchorage and back for his two weeks off.
  The employee testified he did not have a driver’s license during his time working in Valdez.
The employee testified that his supervisor determined how many hours a day he worked.
  He explained he was “on-call” and that in case of emergency; the employer would telephone the employee’s Mancamp room or his cellular telephone and instruct him to come to work.  He testified that the employer required him to provide both his room telephone number and his cellular telephone number.
  He testified that he had been trained in “hazmat” and oil spill cleanup, which were required training to work at the Terminal.
  The employee explained the Mancamp provided him with a lunch to take to work with him.
  He testified the Mancamp was four to five miles from the Terminal.
  He testified that while he was staying at the Mancamp he maintained his residency in Anchorage.
  He testified that the Terminal work rules prohibiting possession of alcohol or drugs and prohibiting fighting also applied at the Mancamp.

The employee testified that prior to his employment with the employer he was not offered the per diem option.
  He testified that the employer took over from ASRC in February 2007, and never notified him of the per diem option but he learned of it from other employees.
  He testified he did not think the $55.00 per day per diem option was economically feasible for him.
  He explained that the cost of rent, cost of food, transportation issues, and loss of facilities providing laundry, entertainment and exercise lead him to decide against the per diem option.  He testified the per diem option was only feasible if you had a trailer or some other place to live already.
 He explained that if they had to work late the employer provided bus waited for them and the Mancamp delayed dinner.  He testified the employer provided buses went only to the Mancamp and not other housing locations.
  He testified that since he did not have a driver’s license, the employer provided transportation was important to him.  He testified that basically all the plumbers and laborers stayed at the Mancamp and did not take the per diem option.
  He testified he was vested in his union’s retirement plan and that taxes were withheld from his paychecks.

The employee testified that all employees were “on-call” including those not living at the Mancamp.
  He explained that other employees who did not live at the Mancamp could drive to the Mancamp and then ride the bus to the Terminal.
  The employee explained that the 
co-worker he had considered sharing a place to live with outside the Mancamp, did not have a trailer.
  He testified that he occasionally ate at places other than the Mancamp.
   He explained that workers were allowed to consume alcohol while off duty, away from the Mancamp, but they were not allowed to have alcohol in their rooms.
  He was not sure if the no-fighting rule applied away from the Mancamp.
  He remembered another Mancamp rule limiting wives to staying no more than three nights per month.
  He again explained that when he looked into renting a place to stay away from the Mancamp, the costs were too high, it was not feasible and he did not want a roommate.

Further, the employee testified that the plumbing in the restrooms at the Mancamp leaked and there was always water on the floor.
  He testified he thought the restroom was unsafe and that he would not have incurred such an injury if he had been at home.
  He further explained there were not many housing alternatives to the Mancamp and none that provided similar food and facilities.
  The employee testified that his job with the employer was not for any guaranteed length of time.
  The employee testified he was concerned with other potential safety problems at the Mancamp.
  
C. Jim Young

At the March 20, 2008 hearing, Jim Young testified telephonically from Fairbanks, Alaska at the request of the employer.  Mr. Young testified he is the employer’s Interim Program Director and that he is familiar with the MLA’s worker housing provisions.  He explained that the employer uses the Mancamp to house its employees in Valdez and that employees have the option to not live in the Mancamp and receive $55.00 per day per diem.
  He testified that the employer has no alcohol and no drugs policies that are required by Alyeska.
  He testified he did not know if the Mancamp had an alcohol or drug policy.
  He testified that the employer has a no fighting policy and that it is not unique to Valdez.
  He explained all the Alyeska contractors must follow Alyeska rules.
  He testified the employer has a contract with the Mancamp to supply housing to its employees for $78.00 per day.  He testified the employer has no oversight of the Mancamp or its operation.
  Mr. Young testified he did not investigate the employee’s injury; rather the safety department investigated and has not seen their report.
 
D. Lisa Von Bargen

At the March 20, 2008 hearing, Lisa Von Bargen testified telephonically from Valdez, Alaska at the request of the employer.  Ms. Von Bargen is the Director of Community and Economic Development for the City of Valdez.
  She testified that Valdez is on Alaska’s road system, has an airport and ferry service.  She testified Valdez has a population of 4,353 at the most recent census but that this population increases during the summer months.
  She testified Valdez has a hospital with ten short and ten long term beds.  Ms. Von Bargen testified that Valdez has a convention center, three grade schools, a middle school, a high school and a community college.  She testified Valdez has one large grocery store, about ten restaurants, and a wellness center/gym open to the public.  She advised Valdez is a homerule municipality formed in 1901 with a city manager, mayor, city council, fire department and police department.
 

Ms. Von Bargen testified that a housing survey completed in December 2007 identified 1,700 to 2,000 housing units and a rental market adequate for the needs.  The survey indicated apartment rents average $800 per month and $1,500 per month for three bedroom apartments.
  She indicated some private homes rent rooms and there are about 50 bed and breakfast businesses but only one specializes in long-term rentals.
  She testified Valdez has five mobile home parks and about 1000 recreational vehicle parking spaces.
  She testified that Alyeska is Valdez’s largest employer but she has no knowledge of how many Terminal employees stay in housing other than the Mancamp.

Ms. Von Bargen testified she knew of no housing facility in Valdez, other than the Mancamp, that provided room and board.  She knew of no other housing alternative providing room and board for $55.00 a day.  She knew of one hotel that does provide breakfast.
  She testified that during the summer months the population in Valdez doubles and the housing market can be more difficult.

III. ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES

A. The employee’s arguments

The employee argues his injury is compensable under the Act under various legal theories.  The employee argues his injury was within the course and scope of his employment under 
AS 23.30.395(2) because it occurred when he was engaged in an “employer sanctioned” activity at an “employer provided” facility.  The employee argues the Mancamp was an “employer provided” facility since the MLA required the employer to furnish room and board in Valdez, it was selected by the employer, paid for directly by the employer, that employees were required to stay there if the per diem option was not offered and that there was no other viable housing alternative for the employee.  The employee argues his going to the toilet was an “employer sanctioned” activity because it is a standard living activity that takes place at any dwelling, and as such, is within the scope of reasonable living activities the employer can anticipate employees to do at a provided living facility.  
The employee argues that Valdez is a “remote site” such that the types of employee activities that are covered by the Act are expanded to include basic living activities such as going to the toilet.  The employee urges the Board to adopt his interpretation of the remote site doctrine to include that recreational activities can become work-related when normal recreational activities are severally limited or non-existent due to remoteness of the work site.  The employee cites Doyon Universal Services v. Allen,
 as authority that the Valdez Mancamp is a “remote site.”  The employee asserts the Doyon case explains the Alaska Supreme Court’s decision in Norcon v. Seibert,
 such that injuries occurring during ordinary living activities but caused by some defect at the Valdez Mancamp are work-related because “the remote-site doctrine therefore applies.”
   
The employee has analyzed both the inclusive and exclusive provisions of AS 23.30.395(2), which defines “arising out of and in the course of employment.”  Of these, the employee maintains the first three provisions identify instances when an injury is clearly within the course and scope of employment.  These include “employer-required or supplied travel to and from a remote job site; activities performed at the direction or under the control of the employer; and employer-sanctioned activities at employer-provided facilities.”
  The employee contends that the second and third of the inclusive provisions are not limited to a remote job site.  The employee asserts that it is therefore not necessary to find the Mancamp a remote job site in order to find the employee’s injury compensable.
  Further, the employee maintains that the exclusive provisions of AS 23.30.395(2) do not exclude the employee’s injury.  These provisions state that arising out of and in the course and scope of employment “excludes recreational league activities sponsored by the employer, unless participation is required as a condition of employment, and activities of a personal nature away from employer-provided facilities.”
  The employee argues that the first exclusionary provision does not apply at all and the second only excludes activities of a personal nature if they are away from the facilities provided by the employer.  Therefore, the employee concludes that even if using the restroom is an activity of a personal nature, it is not excluded because it was performed at the Mancamp, a facility provided by the employer.

The employee argues that under Doyon,
 even if Valdez is not a remote site, his residing at the Mancamp was an “incident” of his employment with the employer and, accordingly, his injury is compensable.  The employee draws the Board’s attention to the “incident of employment” rule, which originated with Northern Corporation v. Saari,
 and rejected any separate test involving both “arising out of” and “in the course of” employment.  The employee contends that Saari merged the two into the single concept of “work connection.”
  Under Saari, the Supreme Court declared that, “if the accidental injury or death is connected with any of the incidents of one’s employment, then the injury or death would both arise out of and be in the course of such employment.”
  
The employee purports to establish that staying at the Mancamp was an incident of employment with the employer for employees performing maintenance on the trans-Alaska pipeline and asserts this is demonstrated by the employer’s contract.  The employee maintains the employer required its employee to live at the Mancamp and the contract with the Union specifically provided for residence at the Mancamp.  The employee asserts that the employer controlled where its employees were to live in Valdez and the site selected for the employer became an incident of his employment with the employer.  As such, the employee argues his injury occurred solely because he lived at the Mancamp, an incident of his employment and, as such, the Board should find his injury compensable.

Further, the employee argues this interpretation is consistent with the “bunk-house rule,” adopted in Alaska before statehood.
  In support of his arguments, the employee cites Aho v. Chichagoff Mining Co., in which an employee of Chichagoff was provided housing and was injured when the bunkhouse collapsed.  The court ultimately found the employee was injured in the course and scope of his employment and his claim was compensable under the Miners’ Compensation Act.

To further enforce his position, the employee references Leo Polen Orchards v. Hernandez,
 a case before the Oregon Supreme Court in which the employer furnished a camp for its migrant workers.  The employer authorized an employee whose husband was injured to remain off work to care for her husband.  The employee fell and injured her ankle as she walked from the camp to an outdoor restroom to empty her husband’s bed pan.  The employee contends the Hernandez court emphasized the real question is whether the employee “had no other practical alternative.”
  The employee further asserts that Professor Larson is frequently cited by and relied upon by the Alaska Supreme Court and that he reaches the same conclusion when stating, “Even in the absence of a requirement in the employment contract, residence should be deemed ‘required’ whenever there is no reasonable alternative. . .”
  Those criteria Professor Larson deems important in evaluating reasonable alternatives are the distance of the work from residential facilities or the lack of availability of accommodations elsewhere.

Additionally, the employee argued his injury is compensable under the “special hazard exception,” adopted by the Alaska Supreme Court in Sololowski v. Best Western Golden Lion.
  The employee argues that the court’s reasoning in adopting the “special hazard exception” as an exception to the “coming and going” rule applies equally to his injury.  The employee maintains that under the “special hazard exception,” an otherwise excluded injury is compensable if it results from an employer action that creates a special hazard.  The employee argues that this exception is applicable in the instant matter because the location of the toilet in the Mancamp created a hazard and it was that very hazard that caused the employee’s fractured heel.  The hazard the employee refers to is the 12 inch riser upon which the toilet was placed and the wet slippery floors cause by water leakage and poor drainage. 

The employee argued the Mancamp is an employer provided facility despite the per diem option.  As an initial matter, the employer asserts the employer never officially notified him of the availability of the option and since contractually, the option is at the employer’s discretion, until it was offered, it was not effective.  Further, the employee asserts that the per diem option was not meaningful; it did not make economic or practical sense because $55.00 per day was not sufficient to allow the employee on his own, to replace the services of the Mancamp, which cost the employer $78.00 per day.  Finally, the employee argues that even if the offer was viable, it did not remove the Mancamp from the realm of an employer provided facility, as the employer chose and paid for it directly.

Based upon the employee’s “on-call” status at all times when he was not schedule to work, he argues he was in the course and scope of his employment during all time spent at the Mancamp.  To support this contention, the employee relies on Sokolowski,
 and admits that compensable activities are limited to those reasonably foreseeable and incidental to employment, but contends that use of the toilet meets these criteria.  In addition, the employee maintains that under the circumstances to which he was subjected, use of the toilet was unsafe, further supporting the compensability of his injury.

The employee additionally argued the Mancamp had prohibitions on the possession of illegal drugs, otherwise legal alcohol and fighting that were consistent with the employer’s and Alyeska’s work rules and that this was an indication of the employer’s indirect control over the Mancamp.  The employee argues that Larson’s general rules and cases from other jurisdictions are not necessarily controlling in this matter as Alaska has a unique statutory definition in AS 23.30.395(2). 

B. The employer’s arguments

The employer argued the employee’s injury is not compensable because it did not arise out of the course and scope of his employment.  It maintains the employee was engaged in a purely personal activity at the time of injury that he would have been doing regardless of whether he was working.  The employer argued that none of the possible theories that could expand the applicability of the Act to this injury are appropriate in this matter.  The employer argued the employee has failed to cite any Alaska case law regarding “on call” employees.
The employer contends that in order to attach the presumption of AS 23.30.120, the employee claims the “remote site” doctrine applies.  However, the employer argued the “remote site” doctrine does not apply because Valdez is not a remote site.  It asserts Valdez is connected by a major highway, has an airport and state ferry service.  It pointed out that Valdez has a population greater than 4,000 and over 1,600 residential dwellings of which more than 400 are rental units.  It asserted Valdez has many social, cultural and recreational amenities including restaurants, workout facilities and a large grocery store.  The employer asserts that because Valdez is not a “remote site,” the employee’s decisions regarding where to live and eat were not driven by any remote nature of Valdez.  
The employer asserts it has produced substantial evidence to rebut the presumption.  This includes in addition to the facts and statistics regarding Valdez, the employee’s testimony he considered the per diem alternative for housing; that other employees used the per diem; and that the employee chose to remain at the Mancamp to accommodate his preference for privacy.

The employer maintains the employee is unable to prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  The employer admits, under Doyon,
 that a more expansive view of work connectedness is taken, based upon the requirement, as a condition of employment, that the employee eat, sleep and socialize on work premises, which are activities typically not subject to being a part of work.  The employer acknowledges that if Valdez is found by the Board to be a remote site, and if the employee was required to live at the Mancamp, the employee’s injury would probably be compensable.  However, the employer strenuously argues that the employee is unable to prove his claim by a preponderance of the evidence because he was not required to live at the Mancamp and that Valdez is not a remote site.

 The employer called the Board’s attention to Excursion Inlet Packing v. Ugale
 and Benston v March Creek,
 in which work locations were found to be remote, as examples of criteria that should be used to determine a “remote site.” Such criteria include a year round population of less than 100, limited public facilities, and no connecting road service.
The employer argued the “bunk house” rule does not apply because the employee was not required to stay at the Mancamp.  The employer asserted the employee could have chosen the per diem option and lived elsewhere.  The employer argued the employee stated he did not live elsewhere because he wanted his privacy and did not want to have to share a trailer or apartment.  It argued that the Mancamp is not an “employer provided” living facility because the employer does not own the Mancamp and the employee had the option to live elsewhere.  Asserting the Mancamp was not an employer provided facility, the employer maintains the various “coming and going” cases are not relevant to this matter.  The employer asserted it had no control over the rules at the Mancamp and the fact that the Mancamp had rules similar to the employer’s was not indicative of control.  The employer argued that the no illegal drugs or alcohol and no fighting rules applied to everyone staying at the Mancamp and not just the employer’s employees.
The employer contends that regardless of the status of the Mancamp, the activity of going to the toilet during non-working hours is so purely personal in nature, that there is an insufficient connection to the employee’s work to bring the injury under the Act’s coverage.  The employer argued that there is no causal role in the employee’s injury and his choice to stay at the Mancamp because he could have as easily incurred his injury at another living facility of his choosing.

In addressing AS 23.30.395(2), the employer acknowledges that “employer sanctioned activity” and “employer provided facility” are not concepts exclusively applicable to remote sites, under the Supreme Court’s guidance in LeSuer.
  However, the employer points out that the Alaska Supreme Court has clearly articulated that “employer sanctioned activities” encompasses activities that otherwise would not be compensable because the remote site limits the employee’s choices with respect to housing, dining and participation in recreational activities.  The employer asserts, under Doyon, that there must be a link between the employment and an injury for the injury to be compensable.  The employer argued that an “employer sanctioned activity” must have something to do with the employment and not just be ordinary living activities to be covered under the Act.  
Finally, the employer argued that it would be inconsistent and unacceptable to find the employee’s injury compensable but not similar injuries occurring to employees who accepted the per diem option.  The employer urged the Board to focus on the case law and references Estate of Milos v. Quality Asphalt Paving,
 where an employee’s unauthorized use of an ATV on employer property during nonworking hours was found not within the course and scope of his employment.
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
AS 23.30.395 provides in relevant part:

In this chapter

***

(2) “arising out of and in the course of employment” includes employer‑required or supplied travel to and from a remote job site; activities performed at the direction or under the control of the employer; and employer‑sanctioned activities at employer‑provided facilities; but excludes recreational league activities sponsored by the employer, unless participation is required as a condition of employment, and activities of a personal nature away from employer‑provided facilities;
***
(24) "injury" means accidental injury or death arising out of and in the course of employment, and an occupational disease or infection that arises naturally out of the employment or that naturally or unavoidably results from an accidental injury; "injury" includes breakage or damage to eyeglasses, hearing aids, dentures, or any prosthetic devices that function as part of the body and further includes an injury caused by the wilful act of a third person directed against an employee because of the employment;

The Act, “provides for a comprehensive system of compensation for injuries to employees.”
  AS 23.30.120(a) provides, in pertinent part: “In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter….”  The presumption attaches if the employee makes a minimal showing of a preliminary link between the disability and employment.
  Further, since the Act creates the presumption that a claim for compensation comes within the provisions of the statute it is also presumed that an injury is work-connected in the absence of evidence to the contrary.
  The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of 
AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  The Alaska Supreme Court instructed in Northern Corp. v. Saari
 that if the accidental injury or death is connected with any of the incidents of one’s employment, then the injury or death would both arise out of and be in the course of such employment.  

In Anchorage Roofing v. Gonzales,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that 
AS 23.30.120 places a burden on the employer to go forward with evidence on the issue whether the injury arises outside or within the scope of employment.  To overcome the presumption once it attaches, the employer must present substantial evidence that the claim is not work-related.
  Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind would accept in light of all the evidence to support a conclusion."
  There are two methods of overcoming the presumption of compensability:  (1) presenting affirmative evidence that the disability is not work-related or (2) eliminating all reasonable possibilities that the disability is work-related.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion, the evidence tending to rebut the presumption should be examined by itself."
  
Once competent evidence is introduced by the employer, the presumption drops out, and the final burden as to all essential elements is on the claimant.
  The employee must prove the elements of his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.
 
The essential facts of this case are undisputed.  Neither the employer nor the insurer dispute that the employee was injured at the Mancamp where the employee was residing, which was paid for by the employer.  What the parties do dispute is whether the employee’s activity at the time of his injury is within the course and scope of his employment and who should bear the burden of compensability for his medical expenses and time loss.  The Board decision-making in this case is governed by 
AS 23.30.395(2) and (24) and a series of Alaska Supreme Court decisions.  The parties have raised multiple legal doctrines, theories and arguments intertwined with case law interpreting the Act with regard to what is within the course and scope of employment.  We will address these arguments in order although their significance may frequently overlap.
I. WAS THE MANCAMP AN “EMPLOYER-PROVIDED” FACILITY?

We find with the employee has raised the presumption that the Mancamp was an “employer-provided facility” with the evidence that the MLA required the employer to furnish room and board and that the employer paid for the employee to stay at the Mancamp.  The employer argued even though it paid for the employee to stay at the Mancamp it was not an “employer-provided facility” because the employer did not own or control the facility, the employee could have chosen to live elsewhere, and the employer would have provided the employee $55.00 per diem to do so.  We find this argument fails to negate the plain meaning of the words “employer-provided” contained in 
AS 23.30.395(2).  In  LeSuer  the Alaska Supreme Court held that AS 23.30.395(2) does not require an injury to occur on an employer owned premises and that the employer’s payment of a fee that giving its employees access to a softball field was sufficient to make that field an “employer provided facility.” 
  In Municipality of Anchorage v. Robertson,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that under the “premises rule,” where the employer provides parking, the parking area is considered part of the employer’s premises and if the parking area is separated from the employee’s workplace by a street, injuries suffered on the street while walking between the premises are considered compensable.  Accordingly, we find the employer failed to rebut the presumption that the Mancamp was an “employer provided facility.”

Assuming the employer had rebutted the presumption we find the employee proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the Mancamp was an “employer provided facility.”  We find the employer arranged for the employee to stay at the Mancamp, it paid for the employee’s room and board at the Mancamp, it provided transportation from the Mancamp to the job site, it paid for transportation to and from the employee’s home to the Mancamp, and it offered no other housing choice except per diem if the employee did not wish to stay at the Mancamp.  We find the cost of the Mancamp to the employer was $78.00 per day but the employer only offered $55.00 per day per diem if the employee chose not live in the Mancamp.  We find that alternative room and board facilities with the same amenities as the Mancamp were unavailable in Valdez.  We find the seasonal nature of the housing market in Valdez and the uncertainty of the length of the employee’s employment to be additional factors.  We find, based on the employee’s testimony and the testimony of Ms. Von Bargen, that other living options were uneconomical to the employee.  We find the fact that the employer paid for the employee to stay at the Mancamp on a long term basis sufficient evidence that the Mancamp was an “employer-provided facility.”  We find the additional facts in this matter support that conclusion.  Under the plain meaning of the statute, we conclude the Mancamp was an employer provided facility.  

II. WAS THE EMPLOYEE ENGAGED IN AN “EMPLOYER SANCTIONED” ACTIVITY AT THE TIME OF HIS INJURY?
We find the Alaska Supreme Court in LeSuer clearly held that the portion of AS 23.30.395(2) which pertains to employer-sanctioned activities at employer-provided facilities is not limited to remote job sites.
  The question then becomes what types of activities at employer-provided facilities are employer-sanctioned, even if not at a remote site. 
Although the “employer-sanctioned” language of AS 23.30.395 may be unique to Alaska’s Act,     Larson’s recognizes a “Traveling Employees Rule”, a “General Resident-Employee Rule” and a “Basic Bunkhouse Rule.”  The “Traveling Employees Rule” provides:

An employee whose work entails travel away from the employer’s premises is generally considered to be within the course of his or her employment continuously during the trip, except when there is a distinct departure on a personal errand.  Thus, injuries flowing from sleeping in hotels or eating in restaurants away from home are usually compensable.

The “General Resident-Employee Rule” provides: 

Injuries to employees required to live on the premises are generally compensable if one of the two following features is present: either the claimant was continuously on call, or the source of injury was a risk distinctly associated with the conditions under which the claimant lived because of the requirement of remaining on the premises.
 

Under the “Bunkhouse Rule” injuries are compensable when there is a close relationship to the requirement of employer provided residence and the risk that causes an injury.  For example, it is uniformly held that a worker who is required to live in an employer provided residence and is injured by a fire at that residence is within the protection of the compensation act.   But if there is no distinct link between the injury and the conditions under which the claimant is compelled to live most jurisdictions will deny compensation, even though the source of injury is the same kind of personal act which is generally covered in the case of “on-call” employees.
   

We find these three recognized rules offer insight into the proper interpretation of “employer-sanctioned activities” in AS 23.30.395(2).  We interpret the guidance of the “Traveling Employees Rule”, the “General Resident-Employee Rule” and the “Basic Bunkhouse Rule” to indicate that when living at an employer provided facility away from the employee’s normal residence, an employee’s basic living functions such as sleeping, eating and going to the restroom are activities the employer reasonably expects and authorizes the employee to do at that facility.  We find this constitutes an “employer-sanction” of such activities.  This interpretation is also consistent with the general rule providing continuous or broad coverage to employees at remote sites
 when not engaged in distinctly personal activities not required for basic living.  Finally, this interpretation is consistent with the court’s analysis in LeSuer,
  where an employee’s playing softball was held to be an employer-sanctioned activity when the employer provided the softball field.

We find the employee has raised the presumption that his activity at the time of his injury was “employer sanctioned” with his testimony and evidence that the employer provided his room and board and he had no viable alternative to residing at the Mancamp.  We find this is sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability under AS 23.30.120(a).
 
We find the employer rebutted the presumption with its argument that going to the toilet during non-work hours, away from the work site, was a purely personal activity that had no connection to the employee’s work, the evidence that Valdez had other housing options, and the lack of evidence the employer affirmatively sanctioned the employee’s use of the restroom at the Mancamp.  When examined in isolation, we find these facts are substantial evidence rebutting the presumption of compensability.
  
We find the employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that his activity at the time of his injury was “employer sanctioned.”  We make this finding based on the evidence that Valdez was not the employee’s normal place of residence, that the employer provided the employee’s transportation to and from his normal residence, that the employer provided transportation to and from the Mancamp to the worksite, that the MLA required the employer to furnish the employee room and board, that the employer chose to place the employee at the Mancamp, and that the Mancamp was the employee’s only economically viable housing option.  
In the instant matter, we find the employee went to the restroom in a facility the employer provided him while he was working in a location other than his normal residence.  In this case the undisputed testimony of the employee and the medical evidence reflect the employee was injured while going to the restroom at the Mancamp.  Based on the evidence in the record and our previous findings, we find the employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that his use of the restroom at the Mancamp was an employer sanctioned activity at an employer provided facility.  We conclude this was an activity ". . . . arising out of and in the course of employment. . . ." under the terms of AS 23.30.395(2) and that accordingly, the employee’s injury is compensable under the Act.

III. REMOTE SITE DOCTRINE
Even if the employee’s injury was not compensable as an “employer-sanctioned activity” at an “employer-provided facility,” in the alternative we find the employee’s injury is compensable under the “remote site” doctrine.  Although AS 23.30.395(2) only references “remote job site” in regards to travel to and from such a job location, we note that course and scope has come to have a more expansive meaning in cases where an employee is injured at a remote site.  The Alaska Supreme Court has discussed its rule of the "remote site doctrine" in a number of cases.  The general concept is that a broader range of injuries or fatalities are compensable when sustained during activities incident to employment at remote sites than at non-remote sites.  

In Benston v. March Creek, LLC.,
 we reviewed the history of the remote site rule: 

In Anderson v. Employers Liability Assurance Corporation, the Court explained the remote site doctrine:

An outgrowth of these rules is the doctrine which has emerged in cases concerning resident workers on overseas construction projects, at isolated locations and at work premises which are relatively remote from the normal amenities of civilization.  In an impressive number of cases compensation has been awarded for injuries occurring while the employee was pursuing recreational activities, even at locations not immediately adjacent to the job site or the living quarters.  Although it is often possible for a resident employee in a civilized community to leave his work and residential premises to pursue an entirely personal whim and thereby remove himself from work‑connected coverage, the worker at a remote area may not so easily leave his job site behind.  The isolation and the remote nature of his working environment is an all encompassing condition of his employment.  The remote site worker is required as a condition of his employment to do all of his eating, sleeping and socializing on the work premises.  Activities normally totally divorced from his work routine then become a part of the working conditions to which he is subjected. . .  

In M‑K Rivers and Alaska Pacific Assurance Co. v. Robert Schleifman, the Alaska Supreme Court awarded compensation to a claimant who was injured in a motorcycle accident while en route to town on the highway, to cash his paycheck.  The Court noted: 

This residency requirement presents a special situation where certain reasonable activities must be deemed incidents of employment even though those same activities, if conducted at a non‑remote site, might not be held to be work‑related.

In Kelly v. Nalbro Packing Co. the Alaska Superior Court reversed the Board’s denial of benefits to a fish roe technician employed aboard a fish processing tender who was injured in an assault on a dock, after a dispute that began in the Pioneer Bar in Sitka was carried out to the dock.  The Kelly decision was cited and followed in another Alaska Supreme Court case, Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, in which the Board’s denial of benefits under the remote site doctrine was also reversed.  In that case, in an opinion of the Superior Court adopted by the Alaska Supreme Court, it was noted that in the earlier case of Sokolewski v. Best Western Golden Lion Hotel,

the court held that the Board erred in allowing the employer to overcome the presumption [of compensability] by proof that the injury occurred off premises when the special hazard exception applied; proceeding in this manner essentially took the presumption out of the picture in this type of case. * * * If the “remote site” doctrine is applicable, then this case is like Sokolewski, and reliance upon evidence that the injury occurred off premises would be error as a matter of law.  The evidence was uncontested that Mr. Ugale was scared to stay in the bunkhouse, that he wanted to leave, that he couldn’t get a plane until the next day, that he left, and that he died.  Under these circumstances, the fact that he died after quitting his job and the fact that he died of [Excursion Inlet Packing] premises are both simply irrelevant.

The Board has followed the Alaska Supreme Court, adopting the remote site rule in a number of cases. 

As noted by the employer in its briefing and oral argument, the Alaska State Legislature in 1982 amended the Workers' Compensation statute at 
AS 23.30.265(2).  The employer cited and relied upon a law review article for the proposition that the 1982 amendment had the effect of abrogating the remote site doctrine in Alaska, although none of the legislative history for the 1982 amendment was cited for this proposition.  Mr. Kalamarides in his article surveyed the 1982 amendment to AS 23.30.265(2) and concluded, 

Legislative attempts to narrow the application of Alaska’s remote site doctrine do not appear to have altered the courts’ approach to the issue.  Instead, the doctrine is alive and well in Alaska.   Rather than diminishing the reach of the doctrine, courts have instead applied the remote site analysis within the framework of the statutory amendment, by absorbing this analysis into the inquiry of whether an employee’s activities is an “employer sanctioned activity.

(Footnotes omitted)

In Doyon,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that an employee demonstrated a causal connection between bowel obstruction, which was caused by the brussels sprouts that he ate at an employer provided camp and the employee’s work at a remote site.  The Court reasoned that since the employee had limited options as to what he ate at the remote site, and would not have eaten brussels sprouts but for being at the remote site, the injury was compensable.

The parties invested considerable time arguing the issue of whether or not Valdez is a remote site.  Although we do not find it specifically addressed in the case law, it is our interpretation that what constitutes a remote site under the case law is dependent on the individual circumstances of the injured worker.   An employee, whose home residence is at a remote location where he also is employed, is in a very different circumstance than an employee who works at the same remote site but resides elsewhere.  In the instant matter, the employee, whose residence was in Anchorage, was in a different circumstance than a co-worker whose residence was in Valdez.  

We find the MPA also recognizes this distinction in Article XXIV, Section 2., and provides that only employees who did not live within 30 miles of Valdez were required to be provided room and board or per diem by the employer.  We give great weight to this contractual provision, agreed to by the parties to the MPA, as an indicator that Valdez should be considered a “remote site” for employees who did not otherwise live in the Valdez area.   
We find the MPA in Article XXIV, Section 3., also authorized the employer to require the employee to stay at the Mancamp.  We find, based on the MPA and the employee’s undisputed testimony, the employer mandated that the employee stay at the Mancamp unless, at the employer’s discretion, it allowed the employee to live elsewhere and collect $55.00 per diem.  We find that although the employee had knowledge of other employees being allowed to choose the per diem option, there is no evidence the employee ever advised the employee that he could elect the per diem option.

We find the evidence indicates that no alternative all inclusive housing facility comparable to the Mancamp existed in Valdez.  We find that while the Mancamp cost the employer $78.00 per day, it only offered employees $55.00 per day not to live in the Mancamp.  We find, based on the employee’s testimony, that he had no guaranteed length of employment with the employer and that this is also a relevant factor in considering the viability of other housing options.  Based on the evidentiary record we find that, given the totality of the circumstances, the per diem option was not an economically viable one for the employee.

The employee cites as authority that the Valdez Mancamp is a “remote site” Doyon Universal Services v. Allen.
  In Norcon v. Seibert,
 although we found the same Valdez Airport Mancamp to be a remote site,
 the Alaska Supreme Court found that the remote site doctrine did not apply to injury suffered by Mr. Seibert.  In Norcon the employee was found dead in the Mancamp shower due to sudden cardiac death but there was no evidence that the employee’s residing at the Mancamp was a factor in his death.  But several years later in Doyon, the court clarified that if it had been determined that the employee in the Norcon case had died as a result of a condition at the Mancamp, his death would have been work related.

Doyon contends that the "remote site" doctrine is inapplicable here in light of the first footnote in Norcon, in which we held that a fatal cardiac arrest suffered by a worker while showering at a remote site "does not fall within the parameters of the 'remote site' theory" because "[g]etting ready for work is not an activity choice made as a result of limited activities offered at a remote site.  It is an activity that most employees engage in before they go to work, regardless of their location. [Fn. 33]" Id. The principle implicit in the result described in this footnote is reflected in our analysis in the instant case: For the "remote site" doctrine to attach, the employee's activity choices must be limited by the remote site and that limitation must play a causal role in the employee's injury.  For example, if we were confronted with a case similar to Norcon in which an employee's heart attack was caused by him or her being hit with a sudden burst of cold water while in the shower, we would conclude that the employee's limited choice of showers at the remote site contributed to his or her injury, and that the remote-site doctrine therefore applies.
  

We find, based on the MPA, the employee’s residency, the testimony of the employee regarding economic viability of other living options, and the Alaska Supreme Court’s guidance in Doyon that the employee has raised the presumption that, in this matter, Valdez is a remote site.  
We find the employer rebutted this presumption with evidence regarding the size, accessibility and housing options of Valdez.  The employer additionally argued that Valdez should not be a “remote site” as a matter of law because then every workplace injury that occurs in Valdez will be compensable.  We believe we have addressed this concern by recognizing a distinction between resident and non-resident workers, which is consistent with the “traveling employee rule” providing coverage for a traveling employee at an employer-provided facility.

We find from the evidence in the administrative record that Valdez has housing and amenities that indicate it might not generally be considered a remote site.  However, we find that, for the purposes of this employee, these factors are not so significant as to balance the economic hardship he would have incurred if the employer had not provided his room and board.  We conclude, based on the facts and circumstances in this matter, the Supreme Court’s guidance in Doyon and our previous finding in Norcon, that the employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Valdez was a remote site in regards to the employee in this matter. 

We have already found that in this matter, for this employee, Valdez is a remote site, that the employee had limited living facilities options and was engaged in a typical everyday living activity when he was injured.  Under similar circumstances under the remote site rule, as interpreted by the previously cited cases, typical everyday living activities of nonresident employees are covered under the Act.  
We shall again apply the presumption analysis of AS 23.30.120, and find that the employee has raised the presumption of compensability with his testimony regarding his injury, his living circumstances and evidence regarding the limited availability of alternative similar housing.  We find the employer rebutted the presumption with the facts that the injury did not occur during normal working hours and away from the work-site.  These facts viewed alone and in isolation, are sufficient to overcome the presumption.  We find, however, at the third stage of the presumption that the overwhelming evidence indicates that the employee was injured at an employer provided facility while engaged in a typical everyday living activity.  Additionally, the evidence indicates his injury was caused by a condition of the facility.  We find that even if the employee’s activity at the time of his injury was not an “employer-sanctioned activity” under AS 23.30.395(2), it was an “employer-sanctioned activity” under the broader coverage of the remote site rule and arose out of and in the course of his employment.  Accordingly, we find the employee has proven by a preponderance of the evidence that under the remote site doctrine his activity at the time of his injury arose out of and in the course of his employment.  We conclude that under the remote site doctrine the employee’s injury was within the course and scope of his employment and is compensable under the Act.              
IV. SPECIAL HAZARD RULE
Based on the employee’s testimony and the July 22, 2007 Personnel Incident Investigation Report, we find the employee has raised the presumption that the Mancamp restroom’s slippery floor combined with the toilet area riser constituted a special hazard the employee would not have encountered if he had not been staying at the Mancamp.  The employer offered no evidence that these conditions were not a special hazard.  Based on this same evidence we find this special hazard caused the employee’s injury. 

Even if Valdez was not a remote site under the facts of this case, we find the employee has raised the presumption that the “special hazard” rule should be applied to his claim.  Larson’s summarizes this rule as:

Injuries to employees required to live on the premises are generally compensable if .  . . the source of injury was a risk distinctly associated with the conditions under which the claimant lived because of the requirement of remaining on the premises.
 

The Alaska Supreme Court has recognized the “special hazard” rule in going and coming circumstances.
  We have already found the Mancamp to be an employer-provided facility.  In LeSuer,
 the Alaska Supreme Court pointed out that the Legislature used the word “facility” instead of “premises” in AS 23.30.395(2) and found this to be an important distinction.  The court further found that the injury does not have to occur on the employer’s property to be compensable.
  Accordingly, we find the “special hazard” rule to apply to “employer-provided facilities.”
We find based on the employee’s testimony and the July 22, 2007 Personnel Incident Investigation Report that the Mancamp restroom’s slippery floor combined with the toilet area riser to constitute a special hazard the employee would not have encountered if he had not been staying at the Mancamp.  We find this is sufficient evidence to raise the presumption that the employee’s claim is compensable.  We find the employer’s only evidence to rebut this presumption was that the employee had other living options.  We find this insufficient to rebut the presumption created by evidence of the special hazard.
  Accordingly, even if the employee’s injury was not compensable under AS 23.30.395(2) or the remote site doctrine, it arose out of and in the course of his employment under the “special hazard” rule.  We conclude the employee’s claim is compensable under the “special hazard” rule. 
V. THE “ON-CALL” RULE
Even if none of the above theories of compensability applied, the employee argues his “on-call” status at the time of his injury raises the presumption of his compensability under Larson’s general “on-call” rule.
Injuries to employees required to live on the premises are generally compensable if 
. . . the claimant was continuously on call
  
We find the employee raised the presumption that he was “on-call” while staying at the Mancamp with his testimony that he was “on-call” to be summoned to work by the employer at any time.  The employee testified he had oil spill/hazmat training required by the employer and Alyeska, and could be required to work on spill cleanup or prevention at any time.  The employee testified the employer required him to provide his room telephone number and cellular telephone number so it could call him into work if needed.  We find the fact that employee’s who did not live at the Mancamp were also “on call,” fails to rebut the presumption that the employee in this matter was “on-call.”  Based on the employee’s testimony, which we find credible,
 we find the employee was “on-call” at all times he was at the Mancamp.

We next find the employee raised the presumption of compensability with his testimony that he was continuously “on-call” at the time of his injury.  The employer offered no evidence that the employee was not “on-call” at the time of his injury.  We find however, the employer rebutted the presumption with the fact that the Mancamp was not the same as the “premises” or worksite referred to in the general rule.  Although the “premises” was employer-provided, it was separated from the employer’s worksite.  We find the Alaska Supreme Court comments in LeSuer
 regarding the Legislature’s use of the word “facility” instead of “premises” in AS 23.30.395(2), to not be as persuasive to extending the “on-call” rule to the instant matter as with the “special hazard rule”.   We base this distinction on the lack of connection between the injury to the employee and his being “on call.”  We find that the employee’s activity at the time of injury had no connection to his “on-call’ status and falls under an exception to the “on-call” rule when the employee is not on the premises.  

Although an employee is continuously on call, an injury off the premises in the course of personal activity is not ordinarily considered to be within the Compensation Act.

We find the employee has failed to prove his claim based on his “on-call” status by a preponderance of the evidence.  Accordingly, we conclude the employee’s claim in the instant matter, while compensable for other reasons, is not compensable solely under the “on-call” rule.
ORDER

The employee suffered an injury on July 22, 2007, in the course and scope of his work for the employer under AS 23.30.395(2).  The employee's claim for workers' compensation benefits, filed November 27, 2007, is compensable.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on May 9, 2008.
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DISSENT
By Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board Member Linda Hutchings

I respectfully dissent from the findings and conclusions of my esteemed colleagues on the Board panel deciding this case.  I dissent on three points, as follows:
1. I find that the employee is not able to attach the presumption of compensability of 
AS 23.30.120 to his claim.  As an initial matter, I find the employee was not required to live at the Valdez Mancamp.  Consequently, despite the fact he choose to live there, his purely personal activity of going to the restroom was not a part of his working conditions.  Finally, I find that Valdez cannot be characterized as a remote site for the purposes of application of the remote site doctrine under AS 23.30.395(2).  However, even if the employee was able to raise the presumption, I find the employer has produced substantial evidence to rebut the presumption.  I attach substantial weight to the employee’s testimony that his decision to remain at the Mancamp was based upon his preference for privacy.  Further, I find that alternative viable options for room and board were plentiful in Valdez.  As such, I find the employer has rebutted the presumption and that the employee has failed to establish his claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  I do not find the employee was required to live at the Mancamp.  I find the employee was fully aware of the per diem option and that based upon that option, the employee did not have to live at the Mancamp.  Valdez has a population of over 4,300 people, with road access to Anchorage and Fairbanks.  Valdez also has ingress and egress via the Alaska Marine Highway System, Era Aviation’s daily flight service and the Valdez Small Boat Harbor.  Valdez also has over 1,600 housing units, of which over 425 are rentals. Further, I do not find the employee’s activity choices in Valdez were so limited by the remote site or that any such limitation played a causal role in the employee’s injury.  I find the employee has failed to establish that Valdez is a remote site by a preponderance of the evidence.  

2. Under AS 23.30.395(2), in analyzing if the employee’s injury arose out of and in the course of his employment with the employer, I find that it did not.  I find that the employee’s use of the restroom in the middle of the night at the Mancamp was not an activity incident to his employment.  Rather, I find he was injured while engaging in an activity of a purely personal nature.  I find the employee was not injured on work premises; he was not injured during work hours; and he was not engaging in an activity under the direction or control of the employer at the time of his injury.  I find he would have engaged in this activity regardless of whether he was working and that the employer did not take affirmative action to “sanction” the activity.
  I find the employer in the instant matter took no affirmative action other than paying for the employee’s room and board at the Mancamp.  Under LeSuer, I find the employer must do more than simply provide the facility; it must also take some action to sanction the activity.  In the instant matter, no such affirmative action was taken.  I conclude that the activity in which the employee was engaged was not sanctioned by the employer.

3. Under Doyon v. Allen,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that if the employee had not been at a remote site, but had been eating at an employer provided facility, then his claim would not have been compensable.  In that case, the remote site extended the reach of an employer sanctioned activity to include personal conduct that otherwise would not have been compensable.  In other words, under the Court’s ruling, when an employee is at a remote site, the employer has sanctioned the employee’s personal activities due to the lack of choice in accommodations, dining and recreation.  Hence, when an employee is using the restroom in the middle of the night and injures himself, it is compensable.  However, I find that Doyon conversely orders that when an employee is not at a remote site and has choices regarding accommodations, dining and recreation, the employer is not longer held to have sanctioned the employee’s activities of a personal nature that occur when the employee is not working.  I find this scenario accurately reflects what has occurred in the instant matter.  I find the employee conceded his activity in using the restroom was one of a personal nature.  As such, I find his actions were not sanctioned by the employer and conclude his injury is not compensable.  To find otherwise would stretch the Court’s holding in Doyon past the intended meaning of the Alaska Supreme Court.

I find the employee has failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that his injury and attendant medical treatment are substantially related to his employment.  I conclude the employee’s injury is not related to his work and that his claim should be denied and dismissed.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on May 9, 2008.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.
APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.160 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of MICHAEL HAYSON, employee v. CHUGACH MANAGEMENT SERVICES INC., employer; LIBERTY NORTHWEST INS. CO., insurer/defendant;  Case No. 200713019; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on May 9, 2008.







Jean Sullivan, Administrative Clerk II
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